

ENROLLED SENATE
BILL NO. 671

By: Monson of the Senate

and

Pope of the House

An Act relating to public finance; amending 62 O.S. 2001, Sections 853, 854, 855, 856, 858, 859, as amended by Section 2, Chapter 476, O.S.L. 2002, 861, 862, 863 and 867 (62 O.S. Supp. 2002, Section 859), which relate to the Local Development Act; modifying and adding definitions; clarifying authority of local political subdivisions; clarifying authority of review committee; clarifying duties of local governing bodies; modifying and clarifying requirements of project plans; modifying requirements of notice of public hearing; providing for tolling of certain time period; modifying circumstances requiring adjustment of valuations; clarifying language relating to computation of tax levy; providing for tolling of certain time period; modifying description of entities required to submit certain report; and providing an effective date.

BE IT ENACTED BY THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF OKLAHOMA:

SECTION 1. AMENDATORY 62 O.S. 2001, Section 853, is amended to read as follows:

Section 853. As used in Section 850 et seq. of this title:

1. "Apportionment" means the direction by a governing body, authorized by the Legislature pursuant to Section 6C of Article X of the Oklahoma Constitution, to apply all or any portion of an increment of ad valorem taxes and all or any portion of sales taxes, other local taxes or local fees, or any combination thereof, to financing a plan and project in accordance with this act;

2. "Apportionment area" means the same as an increment district as defined under this act;

3. "Bonds" means evidences of indebtedness, tax apportionment bonds or other obligations issued by a public entity pursuant to the provisions of Section 863 of this title to finance project costs, pursuant to a project plan, which are to be repaid in whole or part with apportioned increments;

4. "District" means either an incentive district as authorized by Section 860 of this title or an increment district as authorized by Section 861 of this title. A district may consist of all or a portion of a project area;

5. "Enterprise area" means any area within a designated state or federal enterprise zone;

6. "Enterprise zone" means an enterprise zone as designated by the Department of Commerce pursuant to the provisions of Section 690.3 of this title or as designated by the federal government;

7. "Governing body" means the city council of a city, the board of trustees of a town or the board of county commissioners;

8. "Historic preservation area" means a ~~district~~ geographic area listed in or nominated by the State Historic Preservation Officer to the National Register of Historic Places, an historic structure or structures listed individually in or nominated by the State Historic Preservation Officer to the National Register of Historic Places, with such ~~district~~ area or structure being subject to historic preservation zoning, or for purposes of ad valorem tax exemptions provided for in subsection D of Section 860 of this title, a structure subject to historic preservation zoning. Rehabilitation undertaken in an historic preservation area shall meet the Secretary of the Interior's Standards for Rehabilitation, latest revision, in order to be eligible for the incentives or exemptions granted pursuant to Section 860 of this title;

9. "Increment" means that portion of ad valorem taxes in excess of the amount of that portion of the taxes which are produced by the levy at the rate fixed each year by or for each such ad valorem taxing entity upon the base assessed value of the district or as to an area later added to the district, the effective date of the modification of the plan, or that portion of sales taxes, other local taxes or local fees collected each year reasonably determined by a formula approved by the governing body to be generated by the project, which may be apportioned for specific project costs or as a specific revenue source for other public entities in the area in which the project costs take place;

10. "Local taxes" means ad valorem taxes, sales taxes and other local taxes which are levied by or on the behalf of a taxing entity;

11. "Planning commission" means an organization established for local planning by local government or governments in accordance with the laws of this state;

12. "Project" means any public project in furtherance of all development activities pursuant to the objectives of the project plan;

13. "Project area" means the geographic boundaries within which development activities will occur. The project area may be coextensive or larger than the increment district;

14. "Project costs" means the expenditures made or estimated to be made and monetary obligations incurred or estimated to be incurred which are listed in the project plan as costs of and incidental to ~~public works or improvements and public buildings, including public school buildings, within a designated district~~ planning, approval and implementation of the project plan. Any income, special assessments, or other revenues received, or reasonably expected to be received, by the city, town or county in connection with the implementation of the project plan ~~shall~~ may be used to pay project costs. Project costs include, but are not limited to:

- a. capital costs, including the actual costs of the acquisition and construction of public works, public improvements, new public buildings, structures, and fixtures; the actual costs of the acquisition, demolition, alteration, remodeling, repair, or reconstruction of existing buildings, structures, and fixtures; and the actual costs of the acquisition of land and equipment for public works, public improvements and public buildings and the actual costs of clearing and grading of such land and environmental remediation related thereto,
- b. financing costs, including interest paid to holders of evidences of indebtedness or other obligations issued to pay for project costs and premium paid over the principal amount of the obligations because of the redemption of the obligations before maturity,
- c. real property assembly costs, including clearance and preparation costs,
- d. professional service costs, including those incurred for architectural, planning, engineering, legal and financial advice and services,
- e. direct administrative costs, including reasonable charges for the time spent by employees of the city, town or county in connection with the implementation of a project plan or employees of private entities under contract with a public entity for project planning or implementation,
- f. organizational costs, including the costs of conducting environmental impact studies or other impact studies, the cost of publicizing the consideration of the project plan, costs incidental to creation of the district, and the cost of implementing the project plan for the district,
- g. interest, before and during construction and for two (2) years after completion of construction, whether or not capitalized,
- h. fees for bond guarantees, letters of credit and bond insurance,

- i. the amount of any contributions offset made in connection with the implementation of the project plan,
- j. the costs for determining or redetermining the base assessed value of a district,
- k. costs of construction of public works or improvements, including but not limited to highways, roads, streets, bridges, sewers, traffic control systems and devices, telecommunications systems, parks, water distribution and supply systems, curbing, sidewalks and any similar public improvements, common utility or service facilities, landscaping, parking, and water detention/retention systems,
- l. all or a portion of another taxing jurisdiction's capital costs resulting from the development or redevelopment project necessarily incurred or to be incurred in furtherance of the objectives of the plan and project, to the extent the governing body by written agreement accepts and approves such costs,
- m. relocation costs to the extent that a governing body determines that relocation costs shall be paid or are required to be paid by federal or state law, ~~and~~
- n. all costs incurred in the maintenance, management, marketing and other services provided through an active Main Street Program recognized as such by the Oklahoma Department of Commerce, and
- o. assistance in development financing to the extent the governing body approves such financing;

~~14.~~ 15. "Project plan" means the approved plans of a city, town or county which may include a designated district or districts under this act in conformance with its comprehensive plan, which is intended by the payment of costs through apportionment of the increment or by the granting of incentives or exemptions to reduce or eliminate those conditions, the existence of which qualified the district, and to thereby enhance private investment of the tax bases of the taxing entities which extend into the district. Project plans may be a part of and incorporate existing neighborhood, renewal, economic development, public school and other such plans. Each project plan shall conform to the requirements specified by this act;

~~15.~~ 16. "Public entity" means any city, town, county, board, commission, authority, district, urban renewal authority or public trust;

~~16.~~ 17. "Reinvestment area" means any area located within the limits of a city, town or county requiring public improvements, including but not limited to, transportation-related projects identified by any transportation authority pursuant to Section

1370.7 of Title 68 of the Oklahoma Statutes, to reverse economic stagnation or decline, to serve as a catalyst for retaining or expanding employment, to attract major investment in the area or to preserve or enhance the tax base or in which fifty percent (50%) or more of the structures in the area have an age of thirty-five (35) years or more. Such an area is detrimental to the public health, safety, morals or welfare. Such an area may become a blighted area because of any one or more of the following factors: dilapidation; obsolescence; deterioration; illegal use of individual structures; presence of structures below minimum code standards; abandonment; excessive vacancies; overcrowding of structures and community facilities; lack of ventilation, light or sanitary facilities; inadequate utilities; excessive land coverage; deleterious land use or layout; depreciation of physical maintenance; and lack of community planning. Such an area includes a blighted area as defined in Section 38-101 of Title 11 of the Oklahoma Statutes at the time of approval of the project plan; and

~~17.~~ 18. "Taxing entity" or "taxing jurisdiction" means a city, town, county, school district, political subdivision or other local entity in which local taxes or fees are levied by or on its behalf.

SECTION 2. AMENDATORY 62 O.S. 2001, Section 854, is amended to read as follows:

Section 854. In addition to any other powers conferred by law, a city, town or county may exercise any powers necessary to carry out the purpose of this act, including power to:

1. Establish districts and create plans pursuant to the provisions of this act;
2. Cause project plans to be prepared, to approve the plans, and to implement the provisions and effectuate the purposes of the plans;
3. Cause bonds to be issued by public entities as provided for in Section 863 of this title;
4. Apportion local taxes or local fees and direct the use of local taxes and local fees for the purpose provided for in this act;
5. Enter into any contracts or agreements determined by the governing body to be necessary or convenient to implement the provisions and effectuate the purposes of project plans;
6. Receive, from the federal government or the state, loans and grants for, or in aid of a project and to receive contributions from any other source to defray project costs;
7. Grant tax incentives or exemptions in the manner provided for in this act;
8. Acquire by purchase, donation or lease, and own, convey, lease, mortgage, or dispose of land and other property, real or personal, or rights or interests therein;

9. Clear and improve property acquired by it pursuant to the project plan and construct public facilities on it or contract for the construction, development, redevelopment, rehabilitation, remodeling, alteration, or repair of the property;

10. Cause parks, playgrounds, or schools, including capital improvements to public schools, or water, sewer, or drainage facilities or any other public improvements which it is otherwise authorized to undertake, to be laid out, constructed, or furnished in connection with the project;

11. Lay out and construct, alter, relocate, change the grade of, make specific repairs upon, or discontinue public ways and construct sidewalks in, or adjacent to, the ~~district~~ project area;

12. Cause sidewalks, ways for vehicular travel, playgrounds, or water, sewer, or drainage facilities and similar improvements to be constructed within the ~~district~~ project area for the particular ~~use~~ benefit of the ~~district~~ project area or those dwelling or working in it;

13. Adopt ordinances or resolutions or repeal or modify such ordinances or resolutions or establish exceptions to existing ordinances and resolutions regulating the design, construction, and use of buildings;

14. Sell, mortgage, lease, transfer, or dispose of any property, or interest therein, acquired by it pursuant to the project plan for development, redevelopment, or rehabilitation in accordance with the plan, upon such terms and conditions determined by the governing body to be appropriate for achieving the objectives of the project plan, provided, in the event of disposition by lease or sublease to a lessee not entitled to a tax exemption, the improvements placed thereon shall not be entitled to a tax exemption;

15. Incur project costs;

16. Designate a public entity to exercise the powers enumerated in this section, except paragraphs 1, 4 and 7 of this section;

17. Invest project revenues as provided in this act; and

18. Do all things necessary or convenient to carry out the powers granted in this act and otherwise authorized by the laws of this state.

SECTION 3. AMENDATORY 62 O.S. 2001, Section 855, is amended to read as follows:

Section 855. A. Prior to the adoption and approval of a project plan and the ordinance or resolution required under Section 856 of this title and prior to the public hearing required under Section 859 of this title, the governing body shall appoint a review committee to review and make a recommendation concerning the proposed district, plan or project. The membership of the review committee shall consist of the following: a representative of the

governing body who shall serve as chairperson; a representative of the planning commission having jurisdiction over the proposed district; a representative designated by each taxing jurisdiction within the proposed district whose ad valorem taxes might be impacted according to the plan; and three members representing the public at large and selected by the other committee members from a list of seven names submitted by the chairperson of the review committee.

B. The review committee shall consider and make its findings and recommendations to the governing body with respect to the conditions establishing the eligibility of the proposed district and the appropriateness of the approval of the proposed plan and project. The review committee may recommend that the project plan be approved, denied or approved subject to conditions set forth by the committee.

C. Prior to approval by the governing body, the review committee shall consider and determine whether the proposed plan and project will have a financial impact on any taxing jurisdiction within the proposed district and shall report its findings to the governing body. Such considerations shall be concurrent with or subsequent to the review and consideration of the committee provided for in subsection B of this section. The approval of any district plan or project by the governing body shall address any findings of such impact by the review committee.

D. In the event of any changes in the area to be included in the proposed district or any substantial changes in the proposed plan and project or for any other reason deemed appropriate by the governing body, the review committee shall consider and may modify its findings and recommendations made pursuant to the provisions of subsection B of this section.

E. Approval of the proposed district or the proposed plan or project by the governing body which is in accord with the recommendation of the review committee shall be by a majority vote of the governing body. Such approval which is not in accord with the recommendations and/or conditions set forth by the review committee shall be by a two-thirds (2/3) majority vote.

F. Meetings of the review committee shall be subject to the ~~Oklahoma Open Meeting Act, Section 301 et seq. of Title 25 of the Oklahoma Statutes~~. Any information relating to the marketing plans, financial statements, trade secrets or any other proprietary information submitted to the review committee by a person or entity seeking adoption and approval of a proposed district, plan or project shall be confidential, except to the extent that the person or entity which provided the information consents to disclosure. Executive sessions may be held to discuss such information if deemed necessary by the review committee.

SECTION 4. AMENDATORY 62 O.S. 2001, Section 856, is amended to read as follows:

Section 856. A. The governing body shall designate and adopt the proposed boundaries of any district and the proposed boundaries

of any project area. Except as otherwise provided in this subsection, any districts created by a city or town shall be confined to that territory within the corporate limits of such city or town and any districts created by a county shall be confined to that territory within the unincorporated areas of the county. Any city, town or county may by agreement jointly create a contiguous district with another entity.

B. Upon the adoption and approval of the project plan, the governing body shall adopt an ordinance or resolution, whichever is applicable, which:

1. Describes the boundaries of districts and ~~projects~~ project areas sufficiently definite to identify with ordinary and reasonable certainty the territory included in ~~it~~ them;

2. Creates the district as of a date provided in it;

3. Assigns a name to the district for identification purposes. The first district created shall be known as either an Incentive District or Increment District Number One, City, Town or County of _____, whichever is applicable. Each subsequently created district shall be appropriately named and shall be assigned the next consecutive number; and

4. Contains findings that:

a. the project area or district meets at least one of the following criteria:

(1) is a reinvestment area,

(2) is a historic preservation area,

(3) is an enterprise area, or

(4) is a combination of the areas specified in divisions (1), (2) and (3) of this paragraph,

b. the improvement of the area is likely to enhance the value of other real property in the area and to promote the general public interest. It shall not be necessary to identify the specific parcels meeting the criteria,

c. the guidelines specified in paragraphs 1 and 2 of Section 852 of this title shall be followed,

d. the aggregate net assessed value of the taxable property in all districts as determined pursuant to Section 862 of this title within the city or town shall not exceed twenty-five percent (25%) of the total net assessed value of taxable property within the city or town for cities or towns having a population of fifty thousand (50,000) or more or shall not exceed thirty-five percent (35%) of the total net assessed value of taxable property within the city or

town for cities or towns having a population of less than fifty thousand (50,000),

- e. for projects approved by a county, the aggregate net assessed value of the taxable property in all districts as determined pursuant to Section 862 of this title within the county shall not exceed fifteen percent (15%) of the total net assessed value of the taxable property within the county,
- f. the aggregate net assessed value of the taxable property in all districts as determined pursuant to Section 862 of this title within the city, the town or the county shall not exceed twenty-five percent (25%) of the total net assessed value of any affected school district located within the city, town or county, and
- g. the land area of this district and all other districts within the city, the town or the county shall not exceed twenty-five percent (25%) of the total land area of the city, the town or the county.

C. It is the intention of the Legislature in adopting the Local Development Act that no long-term contractual obligation be created by the mere adoption of an ordinance or resolution establishing an increment district. Notwithstanding any provision contained in an ordinance, resolution or project plan, an ordinance or resolution establishing an increment district shall constitute a legislative act and may be repealed, modified or amended at any time during the term of the increment district, by subsequent action of the governing body. However, nothing in the Local Development Act shall restrict the ability of:

- 1. Any city, town or county to:
 - a. issue debt in accordance with the applicable provisions of Article X of the Oklahoma Constitution, and any statutes enacted in connection therewith, and
 - b. use incremental revenues derived from an increment district to pay principal, interest or premium associated with such indebtedness; or
- 2. Any public entity, other than a city, town or county, to:
 - a. issue tax apportionment bonds or notes in accordance with Section 863 of this title or to issue other types of revenue bonds or notes in accordance with other applicable provisions of Oklahoma law, and
 - b. use incremental revenues derived from an increment district to pay principal, interest or premium associated with such indebtedness.

SECTION 5. AMENDATORY 62 O.S. 2001, Section 858, is amended to read as follows:

Section 858. A. The governing body shall cause to be prepared a project plan. The appropriate local planning commission shall review the proposed project plan and shall make a recommendation on the plan to the governing body. The project plan shall include the following items, if applicable, according to the type of district being formed:

1. A description of the proposed boundaries of the district and the proposed boundaries of the project area by legal description and by street or other recognizable physical feature accompanied by a sketch clearly delineating the area in detail;

2. A ~~statement listing the kind, number and location~~ general description of the proposed public works or improvements, the anticipated private investments and the estimated public revenues which should accrue;

3. A list of estimated project costs including administrative expenses;

4. A general description of the methods of financing the estimated project costs, the expected sources of revenue to finance or pay project costs, and the general time when the costs or monetary obligations related thereto are to be incurred;

5. A map showing existing uses and conditions of real property in the district and a map showing proposed improvements to and proposed uses of that property;

6. Proposed changes in zoning;

7. Proposed changes in the master plan and city ordinances if required to implement the project plan;

8. The name of the person who shall be in charge of the implementation of all of the project plans of the district with such name being forwarded to the Department of Commerce; and

9. A designation of any public entity to be authorized to carry out all or any part of the project plan.

B. Before the governing body may approve such project plan, notice must be given and public hearings must be held pursuant to the provisions of Section 859 of this title. The approval by the governing body must be by ordinance if a city or town or by resolution if a county which contains findings that the plan is feasible and conforms to the master plan, if any, of the city, town or county.

C. Except as otherwise provided in this section, the planning commission may recommend an amendment to a project plan, which amendment shall be subject to review by the review committee and approval by the governing body. Prior to the adoption of the amendment, the governing body shall give notice concerning such amendment and hold public hearings on such amendment in the manner prescribed by Section 859 of this title. The approval by the governing body must be by ordinance if a city or town or by

resolution of a county which contains findings that the plan is feasible and conforms to the master plan, if any, of the city, town or county.

D. The governing body may grant the department, agency or public entity in charge of the implementation of the project plan the authority to make minor amendments to the plan. An amendment is considered to be minor if such amendment does not change the character or purpose of the plan; does not affect more than five percent (5%) of the district's area; or does not affect more than five percent (5%) of the public costs of the plan. All amendments made pursuant to the provisions of this subsection shall be considered on a cumulative basis.

E. Approval by any ad valorem taxing entities, if required pursuant to the provisions of Section 850 et seq. of this title, shall be secured before any plan or amendment thereto goes into effect.

F. Any project plan adopted by a transportation authority pursuant to Section ~~1 of this act~~ 1370.7 of Title 68 of the Oklahoma Statutes, after having met the provisions of this section, shall be submitted to a vote of the people within the boundaries of the authority, pursuant to the provisions of subsections D through H of Section 868 of this title.

SECTION 6. AMENDATORY 62 O.S. 2001, Section 859, as amended by Section 2, Chapter 476, O.S.L. 2002 (62 O.S. Supp. 2002, Section 859), is amended to read as follows:

Section 859. A. Before the adoption of a project plan or subsequent amendments thereto, the governing body must hold two public hearings. The primary purpose of the first hearing will be to provide information and to answer questions. A representative of the city, town or county shall present the city, town or county's proposed plan or amendment thereto. The date of the second public hearing shall be announced in the presence of the persons in attendance at the hearing, but such date shall be more than seven (7) days after the date of the first public hearing. The purpose of the second public hearing shall be to give any interested persons the opportunity to express their views on the proposed plan or amendment thereto.

B. Notice of the first public hearing shall be given once by publication in a newspaper with circulation in the city, town or county. Such notice must be published no later than fourteen (14) days before the date of the public hearing. The notice shall include the following:

1. The time and place of the public hearing;
2. The boundaries of the proposed districts and proposed ~~projects~~ project areas by legal description and by street location, if possible, accompanied by a sketch clearly delineating the area in detail as may be necessary to advise the reader of the particular land proposed to be included;

3. A statement that the first public hearing shall be for information and questions purposes only with persons being given the opportunity to be heard at the second public hearing before any votes are taken;

4. A description of the project plan or amendment thereto and a location and time where the entire plan may be reviewed by any interested party; and

5. Such other matters as the city, town or county may deem appropriate.

C. Notice of the second public hearing may be included in the publication notice provided for in subsection B of this section. Notice of the second public hearing shall be published in the same manner as the notice provided for in subsection B of this section if:

1. Notice for both public hearings is not included in the notice of the first public hearing;

2. The location, date or time of the second public hearing is changed after the notice of the first hearing has been published; or

3. The second public hearing is held more than fourteen (14) days after the first public hearing.

D. The provisions of this section shall not apply to the adoption of minor amendments as provided for in Section 858 of this title.

E. Technical irregularities in the form of the notice required by this section shall not result in the invalidation of any ordinance enacted or amended subsequent thereto, so long as the notice, as published, reasonably appraises interested parties as to the subject matter of the hearings and correctly describes the date, time and place of such hearings.

SECTION 7. AMENDATORY 62 O.S. 2001, Section 861, is amended to read as follows:

Section 861. A. A project plan may contain a provision that the increments from certain local taxes or fees may be used to finance project costs in areas qualified under the Local Development Act. The increment from local taxes or fees levied from and after the effective date of the approval of such plan shall be apportioned in the following manner for a period not to exceed twenty-five (25) years or the period required for payment of project costs, whichever is less; provided, however, that for any increment district established after November 1, 1992, such time period shall be tolled for a period of time equal to the pendency of any litigation directly or indirectly challenging the increment district or apportionment or disbursement:

1. That portion of the ad valorem taxes which are produced by the levy at the rate fixed each year by or for each such ad valorem taxing entity upon the base assessed value of the increment district

determined pursuant to Section 862 of this title and as to an area later added to the increment district, the effective date of the addition to the increment district, shall be paid to each taxing entity and all or any portion of local sales taxes, other local taxes or local fees collected each year which are not subject to apportionment shall be paid or retained as otherwise provided by law; and

2. All or any portion of:

- a. ad valorem taxes, in excess of such amount specified in paragraph 1 of this subsection,
- b. the increment of local sales taxes, other local taxes or local fees, or a combination thereof, paid to or for the benefit of the city, town, or county approving the plan, and
- c. with its consent, evidenced by agreement in writing, the increment of local sales tax, other local taxes or local fees, or combination thereof, payable to any other local public taxing entity,

shall be apportioned to, and when collected, shall be paid into an apportionment fund established for the project pursuant to the project plan. Such revenues shall be used for the payment of the project costs and for the payment of the principal of, the interest on, and any premiums due in connection with the bonds of, loans, notes, or advances of money to, or indebtedness incurred to finance project costs, whether funded, refunded, assumed, or otherwise, for financing, in whole or in part, eligible project costs. Nothing shall prohibit the increments from being used to directly pay eligible project costs. When all eligible project costs and such bonds, loans, advances of money or indebtedness, if any, including interest thereon and any premiums due in connection with them, have been paid and the governing body adopts an ordinance or resolution dissolving the tax apportionment financing, all ad valorem taxes upon the taxable property within the boundary of such district shall be paid into the funds of the respective taxing entities.

B. If a project plan contains a provision for apportionment as provided in subsection A of this section, and notwithstanding any other provision of law to the contrary, the governing body shall direct in the resolution or ordinance approving the plan which portion of the increments, including whether any or all, to be paid into the apportionment fund shall constitute a part of the general fund to be appropriated annually by the governing body, and which portion, including whether any or all, shall constitute funds of a public entity authorized to issue tax apportionment bonds or notes or to incur project costs.

C. To the extent that collections exceed project costs and the provisions for payment of principal and interest along with sufficient reserves on any bonds issued pursuant to the provisions of Section 863 of this title, the excess shall be paid into the funds of the respective taxing entities unless the taxing entity agrees to some other use of such collections.

D. Except as provided in subsection E of this section, for any year in which taxes or fees are apportioned in the manner specified in paragraph 2 of subsection A of this section, any increase in assessed valuation of taxable real property or taxable personal property within the boundaries of such district in excess of the base assessed value shall not be considered by any taxing entity in computing any debt limitation or for any other purpose except for the levy of taxes and in determining the amount to be apportioned.

E. In the event there is a ~~general reassessment of~~ change in the assessment ratio for ad valorem tax property valuations of ~~any~~ property within the boundaries of an increment district, the portions of valuations for assessment pursuant to paragraphs 1 and 2 of subsection A of this section shall be proportionately adjusted in accordance with such reassessment.

F. Nothing in this section shall be construed as relieving property in such project area from being assessed as provided in the Ad Valorem Tax Code of the Oklahoma Statutes, or as relieving owners of such property from paying a uniform rate of taxes, as required by Section 5 of Article X of the Oklahoma Constitution.

G. If property in an increment district is owned by a public trust or public entity and is leased for a private use, the lease shall require the private user to pay ad valorem taxes or an in lieu ad valorem tax payment, whichever is appropriate, on the value of the leasehold.

SECTION 8. AMENDATORY 62 O.S. 2001, Section 862, is amended to read as follows:

Section 862. A. Upon approval of a project plan containing apportionment financing as provided in Section 861 of this title, the county assessor shall, within ninety (90) days, determine the total assessed value of all taxable real property and all taxable personal property within the boundaries of an increment district which shall be certified by the assessor as the "base assessed value".

B. Any school district located within the boundaries of an increment district may file a protest with the governing body of the city, town or county as to the amount certified by the county assessor as the "base assessed value" of the increment district. Such protest shall be filed within thirty (30) days after the "base assessed value" is certified by the county assessor. The governing body of the city, town or county shall notify the county assessor of the protest. Within thirty days after being notified of the protest, the county assessor shall redetermine the total assessed value of all taxable real property and all taxable personal property within the boundaries of the increment district and shall certify to the governing body of the city, town or county the redetermined amount as the "base assessed value" of that district.

C. After the county assessor has certified the "base assessed value" of the taxable real property and the taxable personal property in such increment district, then in respect to every taxing

jurisdiction receiving taxes levied in the increment district, the county assessor or any other official required by law to ascertain the amount of the equalized assessed value of all taxable property within such increment district for the purpose of computing the tax levy to be extended upon taxable property within such increment district, for the purpose of calculating the general state school aid formula, or for the purpose of computing any debt limitation, shall in every year that the tax apportionment is in effect ascertain the amount of value of taxable property in such increment district by including in such amount the certified "base assessed value" of all taxable real property and all taxable personal property in such increment district in lieu of the equalized assessed value of all taxable real property and all taxable personal property in such increment district. The tax levy determined shall be extended to the current equalized assessed value of all property in the increment district in the same manner as the tax levy is extended to all other taxable property in the increment district. The method of extending taxes established under the provisions of this section shall terminate when the governing body adopts an ordinance or resolution dissolving the tax apportionment financing. The provisions of this act shall not be construed as relieving property owners within an increment district from paying a uniform rate of taxes upon the current equalized assessed value of their taxable property as required by Section 5 of Article X of the Oklahoma Constitution.

SECTION 9. AMENDATORY 62 O.S. 2001, Section 863, is amended to read as follows:

Section 863. A. With the approval of the governing body, a public entity, other than a city, town or county, may issue tax apportionment bonds or notes, the proceeds of which may be used to pay project costs pursuant to the plan. Subject to the approval of the governing body, such public entity may issue refunding bonds or notes for the payment or retirement of bonds or notes previously issued by the public entity to pay project costs pursuant to the plan.

B. The public entity issuing tax apportionment bonds or notes may, as authorized by the governing body, irrevocably pledge all or part of the apportioned increments and other revenue for payment of the tax apportionment bonds or notes. The part of the apportioned increments pledged in payment may be used only for the payment of the bonds or notes or interest on the bonds or notes until the bonds or notes have been fully paid. A holder of the bonds or notes or of coupons issued on the bonds has a lien against the apportionment fund and the future increments for payment of the bonds or notes and interest on the bonds or notes and may protect or enforce the lien at law or in equity.

C. The issuing public entity may provide in the contract with the owners or holders of tax apportionment bonds that they will pay into the apportionment fund all or any part of the revenue produced or received from the operation or sale of a facility acquired, improved, or constructed pursuant to a project plan, to be used to pay principal and interest on the bonds. If the public entity agrees, the owners or holders of these bonds may have a lien or

mortgage on a facility acquired, improved, or constructed with the proceeds of the bonds.

D. Tax apportionment bonds may be issued to mature in a period not to exceed twenty-five (25) years in one or more series; provided, however, that for any increment district established after November 1, 1992, such time period shall be tolled for a period of time equal to the pendency of any litigation directly or indirectly challenging the increment district or apportionment or disbursement. The trust indenture, ordinance, or resolution approved, issued in connection with such bond or note, shall provide:

1. The date that the bond or note bears;
2. That the bond or note is payable on demand or at a specified time;
3. The interest rate that the bond or note bears;
4. The denomination of the bond or note;
5. Whether the bond or note is in coupon or registered form;
6. The conversion or registration privileges of the bond or note;
7. The manner of execution of the bond or note;
8. The medium of payment in which and the place or places at which the bond or note is payable;
9. The terms of redemption, with or without premium, to which the bond or note is subject;
10. The manner in which the bond or note is secured; and
11. Any other characteristic of the bond or note.

E. A bond or note issued pursuant to the provisions of the Local Development Act is fully negotiable. In a suit, action, or other proceeding involving the validity or enforceability of a bond or note issued pursuant to the provisions of the Local Development Act or the security of a bond or note issued pursuant to the provisions of the Local Development Act, if the bond or note recites in substance that it was issued by the public entity pursuant to the Local Development Act, the bond or note is deemed to have been issued for that purpose, and the recital shall be conclusive of its validity and the regularity of its issuance.

F. A bank, trust company, savings bank or institution, savings and loan association, investment company or other person carrying on a banking or investment business; an insurance company, insurance association, or other person carrying on an insurance business; or an executor, administrator, curator, trustee, or other fiduciary may invest any sinking funds, money, or other funds belonging to it or in its control in tax apportionment bonds or notes issued under the Local Development Act. This act does not relieve any person of the

duty to exercise reasonable care in selecting securities or of complying with other applicable laws.

G. A tax apportionment bond or note issued pursuant to the provisions of this section is not a debt, liability, or obligation of the city, town or county creating or approving the plan, project or increment district. The bond or note does not give rise to a charge against the general credit or taxing powers of such city, town or county and is not payable except as provided by the Local Development Act. Bonds or notes issued pursuant to the provisions of this section are not general obligations of the state and have no claim on the revenues or resources of the state. A bond or note issued pursuant to the provisions of this section must state the restrictions of this subsection on its face.

H. A tax apportionment bond or note issued pursuant to the provisions of this section may not be included in any computation of the general obligation debt of the city, town or county creating or approving the plan, project or increment district.

I. A public entity may not issue bonds or notes, pursuant to the provisions of this section, in an amount that exceeds the total cost of implementing the project plan for which the bonds or notes are issued except to the extent that bond or notes issues may be sized to include costs of issuance, credit enhancement fees or premiums, and reasonably required reserves.

J. All bonds issued pursuant to the provisions of this section shall be reviewed by the Oklahoma State Bond Advisor who will give a recommendation on such bonds to the issuing entity.

SECTION 10. AMENDATORY 62 O.S. 2001, Section 867, is amended to read as follows:

Section 867. A. For those increment districts in operation for nine (9) months or more, on or before the ninetieth day following the end of each fiscal year, the governing body of a city, town or county shall submit a report to the chief executive officer of each taxing entity that levies ad valorem taxes on ~~real~~ property in an increment district. The report shall include:

1. The amount and source of revenue captured and apportioned to the public trust;
2. The amount and purpose of expenditures;
3. The amount of principal and interest due on outstanding bonded indebtedness;
4. The tax increment base and current captured appraised value or the other local tax or fees collections retained by the area;
5. The captured appraised value or the other local tax or fee collections shared by the city, town or county and other taxing entities, the total amount of tax increments received and any additional information necessary to demonstrate compliance with the plan adopted by the city, town or county;

6. The name of the person who is currently in charge of the implementation of the plan; and

7. The names of the persons who have disclosed an interest as required pursuant to Section § 857 of this ~~act~~ title and the interest disclosed.

B. For those incentive districts in operation for nine (9) months or more, on or before the ninetieth day following the end of each fiscal year, the governing body of a city, town or county shall submit to the chief executive officer of each taxing entity that levies property taxes on real property in an incentive district. The report shall include:

1. The parties receiving incentives or exemptions;
2. A general description of the property and the improvements to be made;
3. The portion and fair market value of the property to be exempted or that portion of the local taxes to be subject to incentives or to be exempted;
4. The duration of the incentives or exemptions;
5. Any additional information necessary to demonstrate compliance with the tax incentives or exemptions;
6. The name of the person who is currently in charge of the implementation of the plan; and
7. The names of the persons who have disclosed an interest as required pursuant to Section § 857 of this ~~act~~ title and the interest disclosed.

C. At the time of submitting the reports as required by subsections A and B of this section, the governing body shall publish in a newspaper of general circulation in the city, town or county, a summary of the relevant financial information along with a notice to the effect that such report has been prepared and that the report is available for inspection during business hours in the office of the municipal or county clerk.

SECTION 11. This act shall become effective November 1, 2003.

Passed the Senate the 13th day of May, 2003.

Presiding Officer of the Senate

Passed the House of Representatives the 16th day of May, 2003.

Presiding Officer of the House
of Representatives